RESEARCH REVIEW ON ALCOHOL MISUSE AFTER TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PURPOSE	2
BACKGROUND	2
THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ALCOHOL MISUSE AND TBI	3
Alcohol Intoxication, Pre-Injury Alcohol Misuse, and TBI	3
Alcohol Misuse and AUD after TBI	3
IMPACT OF ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION AFTER TBI	5
RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ALCOHOL MISUSE AFTER TBI	6
Social Determinants of Health: Demographic, Psychosocial, and Environmental Factors	6
Injury Characteristics	7
PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF ALCOHOL MISUSE AND AUD AFTER TBI	8
EVALUATION OF ALCOHOL MISUSE AND AUD	9
PREVENTION AND MANAGEMENT OF ALCOHOL MISUSE AFTER TBI	10
Nonpharmaceutical Management of Alcohol Misuse or AUD after TBI	10
Pharmaceutical Management of Alcohol Misuse or AUD after TBI	11
CONCLUSION	12
KEY POINTS	12
Disclaimer	13
APPENDIX A	14
Table 1: Criteria for AUD	14
Table 2: Patterns of Alcohol Use	15
Table 3: Questionnaires Used to Evaluate Alcohol Misuse and Drinking Patterns	16
Table 4: Resources on Managing Alcohol Misuse and AUD	17
REFERENCES	19

PURPOSE

The purpose of this Research Review is to summarize published, peer-reviewed scientific literature on alcohol use disorder (AUD) after traumatic brain injury (TBI) with a primary focus on the military population. Topics include the characteristics, risk factors, impact, pathophysiology, evaluation, and management of alcohol misuse and AUD.

Information in this Research Review is current as of June 2024 and is subject to change given emerging research and evidence.

BACKGROUND

TBI frequently impacts active duty military service members and veterans, with blast exposure as a common mechanism of injury.¹⁻⁵ Based on the duration of neurological dysfunction resulting from head injury and the presence of clinical signs evaluated through the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), TBIs are currently classified as mild, moderate, or severe.⁶ Mild TBI (mTBI) is most common in both the general population and the military⁷ and is characterized by a GCS score of 13–15, confusion or disorientation lasting less than 24 hours, and loss of consciousness (LOC) for up to 30 minutes, which may be accompanied by memory loss lasting less than 24 hours.⁶ TBI can initiate the progressive development of adverse health-related outcomes, and even mTBI can cause persistent symptoms, including somatic, cognitive, and emotional or behavioral problems.⁸ Additionally, various pre- and post-injury factors (e.g., social and environmental factors, demographic factors, mental health disorders) may contribute to the development of addictive behaviors after TBI, including alcohol misuse and AUD.

AUD is considered a problematic pattern of alcohol use leading to clinically significant impairment or distress.⁹ AUD was defined by the American Psychiatric Association in 2013 with the development of the fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) and encompasses both alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence.¹⁰ Under the DSM-5, those meeting 2 of 11 criteria during a 12-month period are diagnosed with AUD, which can be further classified as mild, moderate, or severe depending on the number of criteria met (Table 1).^{9,10} Of note, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention defines one drink as 12 ounces of beer (5% alcohol by volume [ABV]), 8 ounces of malt liquor (7% ABV), 5 ounces of wine (12% ABV), or 1.5 ounces of distilled spirits (80-proof or 40% ABV).¹¹ Drinking patterns that do not meet the criteria for AUD but that also increase the risk of adverse health and social consequences have been defined by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) and include alcohol misuse, heavy alcohol consumption, and binge drinking (Table 2).¹² However, these terms are not used consistently in the field. For consistency, this paper uses the term "alcohol misuse" to refer to all subclinical forms of problematic alcohol use when discussing the general trends among studies and defers to terminology used in articles when discussing findings on specific patterns of problematic alcohol use (e.g., heavy and binge drinking); however, these terms may not precisely match the authoritative standards for terms related to alcohol misuse.

Heavy and binge drinking are frequently observed in military personnel, and a history of deployment and combat exposure appears to be associated with heavier use.¹³⁻¹⁸ Additionally, evidence from both military and civilian populations indicates that individuals with TBI have a

higher incidence of alcohol misuse and AUD and higher scores on alcohol use assessments than those with no TBI history.¹⁹⁻²² Alcohol misuse is concerning as it is associated with cognitive impairment, including substantial effects on learning and memory, executive function, and processing speed, as well as vestibular dysfunction.²³⁻²⁶ Alcohol consumption at the time of and after TBI also increases the risk of reinjury and posttraumatic seizures and challenges return to work and productivity.²⁷⁻³² Understanding the risk factors for excessive alcohol consumption post-TBI is vitally important for both service members and clinicians treating patients to promote prevention, a high quality of life, and mission readiness.

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ALCOHOL MISUSE AND TBI

Alcohol Intoxication, Pre-Injury Alcohol Misuse, and TBI

The relationship between alcohol intoxication and TBI has been well characterized.³³⁻³⁵ Civilian studies demonstrate that 23–53% of individuals exhibit alcohol intoxication at the time of injury.³⁶⁻⁴⁵ Additionally, several studies have shown that 28–79% of individuals with TBI have a pre-injury history of alcohol misuse or dependence.^{37,46-48} Acute alcohol intoxication⁴⁹⁻⁵¹ as well as prolonged alcohol misuse or AUD⁵²⁻⁵⁵ have been shown to increase the likelihood of incurring a TBI of any severity and the odds of TBI-related hospitalization. To more accurately characterize the trajectory of alcohol use across multiple timepoints before and after TBI, a recent study used insurance claims data from over 200,000 patients with TBI of any severity and 400,000 frequency-matched controls without TBI.⁵⁶ During the year before the index event, the rate of receiving a diagnosis of alcohol dependence was nearly 8 times higher in the TBI group than in the non-TBI group after adjusting for covariates,⁵⁶ strongly supporting the link between pre-injury alcohol misuse and TBI.

Alcohol Misuse and AUD after TBI

While many studies clearly demonstrate an elevated risk of TBI following acute alcohol intoxication and preinjury alcohol misuse, the relationship between TBI and post-injury alcohol misuse is more complex. Generally, most studies that have investigated drinking habits 1–2 years after TBI report a pattern of reduced drinking and fewer new alcohol dependence diagnoses immediately after TBI, followed by increased alcohol consumption over time.^{18,37,47,56-58} This pattern has been found across the spectrum of TBI severity, but individuals with mTBI often return to alcohol use faster than those with moderate to severe TBI.^{18,47} The initial decline in alcohol consumption after TBI is likely due to several factors, including adherence to clinical guidance during the early post-injury period, lack of access to alcohol due to hospitalization or inpatient treatment, or the initiation of treatment for AUD after injury.³³

However, findings from several large multicenter studies—including Transforming Research and Clinical Knowledge in TBI (TRACK-TBI), TBI Model Systems (TBIMS), Long-Term Impact of Military-Relevant Brain Injury Consortium Chronic Effects of Neurotrauma Consortium (LIMBIC-CENC), and Army Study to Assess Risk and Resilience in Servicemembers Pre/Post Deployment Study (STARRS PPDS)—suggest that TBI increases the likelihood of alcohol misuse and AUD over time.^{59,60} First, civilian studies show that those who report a lifetime incidence of TBI of any severity engage in greater alcohol consumption,^{21,61} and both military

personnel¹⁹ and civilians²⁰ with TBI history have a higher incidence of alcohol misuse than those without TBI history. Additionally, there is evidence of a relationship between TBIs sustained during childhood and the later development of high-risk substance use, including alcohol misuse, during adolescence and adulthood.⁶²⁻⁶⁶ In one civilian study, those who sustained an mTBI with LOC before age 20 were more likely to binge drink than those were older than 20 at the time of injury.⁶⁶ A birth cohort study reported that children who were hospitalized for mTBI before age 6 were more likely to exhibit alcohol misuse in adolescence than those with no mTBI and those with mTBI who did not require hospitalization.⁶⁷ Other birth cohort studies have similarly found that TBIs sustained during early childhood were associated with an increased prevalence of later alcohol misuse⁶⁸ and earlier initiation of heavy alcohol consumption.⁶⁹ Importantly, these findings were obtained after adjusting for covariates, such as age, sex, race, socioeconomic status, and family exposure to adverse events; however, the covariates that were evaluated differed among studies. Nevertheless, these findings collectively support the idea that TBI contributes to the later development of alcohol misuse.

Among military service members and veterans, deployment-related TBI has been associated with an increased risk for post-deployment alcohol misuse,⁷⁰ binge and heavy drinking,⁷¹⁻⁷³ and receiving an alcohol-related diagnosis.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ One study of over 4,600 soldiers who participated in the Army STARRS PPDS found that self-reported lifetime TBI was associated with 1.3 to 1.6 times higher odds of binge drinking and heavy drinking at 3 months and 9 months post-deployment.⁶⁵ Notably, this result was obtained even after controlling for pre-deployment binge drinking and mental health disorders, deployment-related stressors, and sociodemographic factors.⁶⁵ In a recent study of service members enrolled in the Substance Use and Psychological Injury Combat Study, AUD diagnosis was found to be more prevalent among those with a lifetime history of TBI of any severity than among those without a history of TBI.⁷⁷ Collectively, these studies suggest the importance of routine screening for deployment-related and lifetime TBI to prevent alcohol misuse in the military population. Conversely, prioritizing treatment for alcohol misuse may be an effective approach to reduce TBI risk in this population.

Despite this advancement in knowledge on the relationship between alcohol misuse and TBI, confirming a causal relationship is difficult for several reasons. First, many studies that report a causal relationship between alcohol misuse and TBI demonstrate that a history of alcohol misuse preceded the TBI that led to inclusion in the study, but do not account for a prior history of TBIs sustained before this index injury; thus, it is possible that unreported TBIs sustained earlier in life contributed to the development of alcohol misuse.⁵⁹ Those studies that do screen individuals for a history of prior TBI often do so to exclude individuals with prior TBI from analyses.⁶³ Additionally, many studies evaluating the effect of TBI on alcohol misuse similarly do not control for baseline problematic alcohol use and other potentially confounding factors.⁵⁶ Another concern is that, among studies involving service members, it is possible that problematic patterns of alcohol use are underreported due to perceived occupational consequences. Finally, studies investigating lifetime TBI incidence cannot be used to determine the exact temporal onset of problematic alcohol use after TBI, and there are limitations to the use of retrospective methodologies that involve both self-reported TBI history and alcohol misuse. Future studies should aim to ensure all findings are adjusted for potential confounding factors when possible and to obtain an accurate assessment of TBI history prior to the study, and prospective longitudinal studies should be conducted to better establish the relationship between TBI and alcohol misuse.⁷⁸

IMPACT OF ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION AFTER TBI

There is considerable evidence from decades of clinical research associating pre- and post-injury alcohol misuse with a variety of adverse outcomes in individuals who sustain TBIs of all severities. These include poor recovery from TBI,⁷⁹⁻⁸⁴ increased incidence of reinjury or subsequent TBI,^{28,29} cognitive impairment,^{23,81,83-86} reduced employment and productivity,³² sleep problems⁸⁷, and lower life satisfaction at 1–10 years post injury.⁸⁰ Alcohol misuse is also associated with greater risk of suicide, suicidal ideation,^{88,89} and neuropsychological disorders including posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, and anxiety^{86,90-93} after TBI in both military and civilian populations. Additionally, a TBIMS study of veterans and service members who received inpatient rehabilitation for TBI of any severity revealed that pre-TBI heavy alcohol use was a significant predictor of being arrested 10 years post injury; those who reported pre-TBI heavy alcohol use were threefold more likely to incur a post-TBI arrest than those who did not.⁹⁴ The physiological effects of alcohol misuse include increased risk of posttraumatic seizures^{27,30,31} as well as prolonged bleeding time and elevated platelet count⁹⁵ after moderate to severe TBI. Together, these studies show that alcohol misuse has widespread functional, physiological, psychological, and social effects after TBI.

Among these effects, several studies have specifically investigated the connections among alcohol misuse, TBI, and dementia. Interestingly, several large studies have demonstrated that moderate alcohol intake (1–6 drinks per week) is associated with a lower risk of dementia than abstinence among older adults, but heavier consumption (14 or more drinks per week) has been shown to confer a higher dementia risk than abstinence in this population.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸ Similarly, a recently published longitudinal study including over 30,000 individuals reported that "major" TBIs (defined as those involving a diagnosis of intracranial hemorrhage and hospital length of stay of at least three days) were associated with an increased risk of dementia.⁹⁹ Among those who sustained major TBIs, light alcohol consumption (1–13 drinks per week for men or 1–6 drinks per week for women) and physical activity were the strongest factors associated with a reduced risk of dementia.⁹⁹

However, many studies reporting an association between low to moderate alcohol consumption and reduced risk of dementia have important study design limitations as they often do not account for potential confounding effects. For example, one systematic review reported that when analyses were adjusted for abstainer biases and study characteristics, low-volume drinkers did not have significantly reduced mortality risk.¹⁰⁰ It is possible that other factors, such as lower use of medications that interact with alcohol and higher extroversion, levels of social engagement, and activity levels among healthy individuals may contribute to the findings observed in these studies. Similarly, healthier individuals may be more able to engage in low to moderate alcohol use than those with chronic health conditions. Furthermore, other studies suggest that excessive alcohol consumption may confer an increased risk of dementia and neurodegenerative disease after TBI. For example, in a recent LIMBIC-CENC study of individuals with a history of deployment-related mTBI, AUD was associated with signs of accelerated brain aging often observed in those with Alzheimer's disease,¹⁰¹ which is consistent with several other studies.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴ Additional studies conducted using prospective longitudinal study designs that carefully control for confounders are needed to confirm the relationship between alcohol use and the development of neurodegenerative diseases following TBI.

RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ALCOHOL MISUSE AFTER TBI

Social Determinants of Health: Demographic, Psychosocial, and Environmental Factors

Several factors, including pre-injury alcohol misuse and demographic characteristics, have been studied as potential risk factors for AUD and alcohol misuse after TBI. Among these factors, a pre-injury history of alcohol misuse is consistently found to be the strongest predictor of AUD and alcohol misuse after TBI.^{13,37,47,65,93,105,106} Similarly, individuals suspected to be intoxicated at the time of TBI of any severity are more likely to exhibit AUD during the first year after head injury.⁴⁷ Preinjury alcohol use among TBI survivors has been found to be more common among men,^{36,107} younger individuals (20–29 years),¹⁰⁸ and college students.¹⁰⁷ For example, in the military population, veterans with a history of early adolescent (<15 years) binge drinking who sustained military-related mTBIs have been shown to have higher odds of AUD than those with military-related mTBIs who started binge drinking later.⁹⁰ Accordingly, most studies report that problematic alcohol consumption and AUD after TBI are more common among men^{21,52,93,105,109,110} and individuals younger than 65^{19,21,47,93,110,111} across the spectrum of TBI severity. Some studies dispute these findings,^{112,113} including one small study that found no significant differences in alcohol use after mTBI between male and female veterans, although there was a trend toward higher use in males.¹¹³ Because pre-injury alcohol misuse is highly predictive of post-injury alcohol misuse, many researchers argue that premorbid personality traits such as thrill-seeking, negative urgency, maladaptive coping, and impulsivity may be important contributors to one's risk of post-injury alcohol misuse.^{106,114}

Few studies have explored the role of social and environmental factors in alcohol abuse after TBI. Some have revealed that a history of foster care,¹¹⁵ homelessness,⁵⁴ or incarceration^{116,117} is associated with increased incidence of co-occurring TBI and alcohol misuse. Single individuals (as opposed to those in a relationship) have also been shown to have a higher risk of problematic alcohol use after any severity of TBL.^{47,105} One large longitudinal study found that individuals who experienced multiple adverse childhood events, familial alcoholism, and physical abuse were more likely to sustain TBIs through events involving binge drinking,¹¹⁸ but the impact of these factors on post-TBI drinking patterns was not reported and has generally been less studied. Regarding environmental factors, a recent TBIMS study compared alcohol use between individuals who were exposed to the coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic (those with follow up after 2020, when the pandemic began in the United States) and pandemic unexposed individuals (those with follow up before 2020, before the pandemic began in the United States). The study found that civilians exposed to the coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic who had moderate to severe TBI drank more during the second year post-injury than during the first, with Black and Hispanic subgroups showing the greatest increase in alcohol consumption during this time.¹¹⁰ Further research in this area is warranted to achieve a more comprehensive understanding of how social and environmental risk factors may contribute to the risk of alcohol misuse after TBI.

Some studies have evaluated whether comorbid mental health conditions confer an increased risk of alcohol misuse after TBI, with many focusing specifically on PTSD among military service members and veterans. In one study of service members who sustained TBIs during deployment, more severe TBI and PTSD symptoms were associated with a lower odds of substance misuse, including alcohol misuse, 12 months after study enrollment.¹¹¹ However, another study on service members returning from Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom

(OEF/OIF) reported twice as much binge drinking among those with a self-reported history of TBI of any severity and mental health issues (e.g., PTSD, depression, and harmful thoughts) than among those with neither condition.⁷² In another study, among service members who sustained military-related mTBIs, there was a significantly higher burden of PTSD symptoms (as measured on the Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale) in those who started binge drinking earlier in life (<15 years) than in those who started binge drinking later.⁹⁰ Additionally, one study of veterans found that men with TBI and PTSD reported greater alcohol use than women,¹⁰⁹ and these studies suggest that factors such as preinjury drinking patterns and sex may be important mediators of the relationship between PTSD and alcohol misuse after TBI. The effect of treatment for comorbid mental health conditions on this relationship has not been investigated in depth; thus, more studies are needed to fully characterize the interaction of alcohol misuse and PTSD after TBI.

While much work has been done to identify social determinants of health associated with alcohol misuse after TBI, there have been relatively few studies in this area, and some knowledge gaps remain, particularly within the military population. It is unclear how participation in specific military occupational specialties (MOS) impacts drinking habits after TBI. Some studies have reported that Special Operations Forces (SOF) and explosive ordnance disposal (EOD) personnel have a lower prevalence of binge drinking and AUD prior to TBI than conventional forces and non-EOD personnel, but differences in post-TBI drinking patterns between these groups have not been reported.^{119,120} Since traumatic combat experience has been associated with an increased likelihood of alcohol misuse in certain MOS, including SOF,¹²¹ it is possible that TBI further exacerbates the risk of alcohol misuse in certain populations. Further research is needed to determine the extent to which specific occupations influence the risk of alcohol misuse, which may inform targeted education and treatments.

Injury Characteristics

In addition to demographic, psychosocial, and environmental factors, characteristics of the injury itself have been studied as potential risk factors for alcohol misuse after TBI, though findings are limited. Regarding mechanism of injury, one meta-analysis found no difference in the prevalence of alcohol misuse between individuals who sustained blast and non-blast TBIs.¹²² Regarding TBI severity, some studies have shown that after injury, individuals with milder TBIs have lower rates of abstinence,³⁷ consume more alcohol,^{18,47} and have a higher likelihood of alcohol misuse^{21,111} than those with more severe injuries, which is consistent with their faster rate of recovery from TBI and ability to return to drinking more quickly. Additionally, one study found that TBI with LOC was associated with an increased odds of binge and heavy drinking,²¹ and this risk further increased when the number of TBIs with LOC reached three or more. However, due to the limited research in this area, further investigation is warranted.

Some studies have investigated the effect of the context in which the TBI was sustained, such as through assaults or during deployment, on post-injury drinking patterns. One TBIMS study of civilians with moderate to severe TBI found that individuals who sustained TBIs through self-inflicted firearm injury reported a higher incidence of pre-injury heavy alcohol use than those who incurred firearm-related TBIs through assault; however, there were no differences in the incidence of post-injury heavy drinking between these groups at the 1-, 2-, and 5-year follow-ups.¹²³ In another study of over 1,300 Iraq and Afghanistan veterans who were deployed to a war

zone, those who sustained a deployment-related TBI and those who sustained nondeployment TBIs (i.e., any TBI that occurred during time of service, excluding deployment) were both more likely to meet criteria for AUD than those with no TBI history. However, when individuals with PTSD were excluded, there was no longer an association between deployment-related TBI and AUD.¹²⁴ This finding suggests that PTSD and traumatic experiences related to deployment are important contributors to AUD after TBI.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF ALCOHOL MISUSE AND AUD AFTER TBI

Chronic excessive alcohol consumption involves a complex combination of psychological, physiological, and biochemical mechanisms that drive alcohol use and challenge abstinence. Many studies have identified impaired decision-making as both a risk factor for and consequence of alcohol misuse.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸ Other studies have revealed the role of cognitive flexibility, which is an executive function underlying adaptive behavior that likely contributes to the inability to abstain from drinking alcohol.^{127,129} Consistent with this idea, studies report impaired cognitive flexibility in clinical AUD and animal models of chronic alcohol exposure.^{127,130,131} At the physiological level, dopaminergic dysfunction plays a key role in the cognitive processes that contribute to addictive behaviors. Alcohol consumption triggers a sharp increase in the levels of dopamine, a monoamine neurotransmitter involved in motivation, pleasure, and memory.^{106,132} However, the brain adapts to this heightened stimulation over time, and higher amounts of alcohol are needed to produce an equivalent euphoric effect, which contributes to a phenomenon known as tolerance.^{106,132} The result is increased craving, which motivates alcohol-seeking behavior despite decreased liking of alcohol.^{106,132}

Evidence also suggests a relationship between chronic alcohol use and altered brain structure. Chronic alcohol misuse is associated with a significant decrease in hippocampal and cortical volume, reduced white matter volume and integrity, as well as accelerated brain aging.¹⁰¹⁻^{104,126,133-135} These pathologies likely contribute to the cognitive and emotional impairments often observed in individuals with AUD. Due to the large number of cross-sectional studies in this area, it is unclear whether this finding means that alcohol misuse directly shrinks the brain, or that lower brain volume is a risk factor for alcohol misuse.¹³⁵ However, a large body of controlled preclinical studies support the former, showing impaired neurogenesis and hippocampal shrinking in alcohol-exposed animals.¹³⁶⁻¹³⁹ Alterations in synaptic structure,^{140,141} neurodegeneration,¹³⁶ gene expression changes,^{142,143} microglial activation,^{140,143,144} epigenetic changes,¹⁴⁵ proinflammatory cytokine release,¹⁴⁶ and astrocyte reactivity¹³⁶ are also implicated in the cognitive and neurologic impairment and accelerated brain aging associated with alcohol misuse.

In the context of TBI, there is some evidence that alcohol misuse can worsen or increase the risk of certain pathologies. For example, in one study, alcohol misuse was a risk factor for isolated subdural hematoma that required surgery in mTBI patients at a level I trauma center.¹⁴⁷ Animal and human studies also suggest that alcohol consumption can contribute to neuronal damage¹⁴⁸ and neuroinflammation¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵⁰ after TBI. Conversely, TBI may contribute to pathologies associated with alcohol misuse. The sheer stress produced by a TBI can damage dopaminergic neurons, including those within structures of the mesocorticolimbic pathway underlying alcohol use disorder.¹⁰⁶ However, one imaging study found no differences in brain reactivity to the presence of alcohol or functional connectivity in these regions between individuals with both

TBI and AUD and those with AUD alone,¹⁵¹ suggesting more studies are needed to characterize the effect of TBI on pathologies associated with alcohol misuse to develop more specific treatments to prevent the effects of alcohol misuse in the TBI population.

EVALUATION OF ALCOHOL MISUSE AND AUD

A variety of tools have been developed to screen for alcohol misuse and AUD in hospital and primary care settings, including the Michigan Alcoholism Screening Test (MAST), Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT), and the Single Item Alcohol Screening Questionnaire (SASQ) (<u>Table 3</u>).¹⁵² The CAGE questionnaire assesses perceived issues with controlling alcohol consumption (<u>cutting</u> down alcohol use, drinking upon <u>eye</u> opening), as well as negative emotions associated with drinking (<u>a</u>nnoyance and guilt), and has shown high sensitivity and specificity in TBI patients when compared with the DSM-IV criteria for AUD.^{153,154} However, this questionnaire does not assess hazardous drinking habits, and some studies have reported its low sensitivity in specific populations (e.g., women and students).¹⁵⁵ The MAST similarly evaluates one's perceptions of current drinking and drinking consequences but has been found to be less sensitive and specific than the CAGE questionnaire in individuals with TBI.^{152,154} The AUDIT was originally developed by the World Health Organization to distinguish those with AUD from those at risk for AUD.^{152,156} The AUDIT has been validated in many populations and settings, including active duty service members and veterans, and has moderate-to high test-retest reliability and high accuracy with DSM criteria for AUD.¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁶⁰

In the Veterans Health Administration and the Department of Defense (DOD), the alcohol consumption questions provided on the AUDIT (AUDIT-C), as well as the SASQ, are used to screen for alcohol misuse within the past year.^{19,73,161,162} The AUDIT-C has been validated as a shorter alternative to the AUDIT to record the frequency and quantity of typical drinking and the frequency of heavy episodic drinking; the AUDIT-C is less time-consuming than the AUDIT but is just as psychometrically valid and predictive of alcohol-related health outcomes.¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵ The SASQ evaluates both the frequency and quantity of drinking using a single screening question and has been shown to accurately identify a current AUD.¹⁶⁶ The 2021 Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline (CPG) for the Management of Substance Use Disorders recommends the use of these tools during routine screening for unhealthy alcohol use in all patients in both general medical and mental health care settings.¹⁶² However, the CPG emphasizes that most individuals who screen positive should not be given an AUD diagnosis solely based on the screening results and should instead be recommended for brief alcohol counseling.¹⁶²

Other tools that can be used to document problematic alcohol use in the military include the Post-Deployment Health Assessment (PDHA) and the Post-Deployment Health Reassessment (PDHRA). The PDHA is a mandatory self-report questionnaire completed within 30 days of return from deployment, while the PDHRA is completed six months later, and both assessments contain items related to alcohol misuse during and shortly after deployment.^{167,168} While these and the abovementioned tools are useful for evaluating alcohol misuse and AUD in clinical settings, many large TBI studies that evaluate active duty or veteran populations, such as the TBIMS studies, often use specific questionnaires developed by the study investigators to evaluate specific aspects of alcohol misuse or the MINI International Neuropsychiatric Interview Substance Abuse Modules to obtain a DSM-5 diagnosis of AUD.^{18,169}

PREVENTION AND MANAGEMENT OF ALCOHOL MISUSE AFTER TBI

In the military, the *VA/DOD CPG for the Management and Rehabilitation of Post-Acute Mild Traumatic Brain Injury* advises that individuals diagnosed with an mTBI be screened for common comorbidities, including substance use disorders like AUD, and limit alcohol consumption during recovery.¹⁶² Additionally, the Traumatic Brain Injury Center of Excellence *Clinical Recommendation on Cognitive Rehabilitation for Service Members and Veterans Following Mild to Moderate Traumatic Brain Injury* states that diagnosed substance abuse disorders, such as AUD, should be treated before initiating cognitive rehabilitation programs for TBI.¹⁷⁰ The *2021 VA/DOD CPG for the Management of Substance Use Disorders* further recommends that individuals who screen positive for unhealthy alcohol use be considered for enrollment in brief alcohol counseling as the initial treatment approach.¹⁶² Branch-specific alcohol treatment programs are also offered through the DOD.¹⁷¹ Pharmacotherapies or psychosocial interventions can then be considered for those who receive an AUD diagnosis depending on the severity of AUD.¹⁶² The Psychological Health Center of Excellence (PHCoE) also provides many resources on current and emerging treatments for alcohol misuse and AUD (Table 4).^{172,173}

Nonpharmaceutical Management of Alcohol Misuse or AUD after TBI

Screening and brief intervention (SBI) programs provide motivational interviews and education for individuals with AUD and those at risk of developing AUD.¹⁷⁴ These programs have been widely implemented across trauma centers and have been shown to reduce alcohol use, health care utilization, and motor vehicle accidents in many medical settings by promoting self-efficacy and the idea that changing one's drinking habits is possible.¹⁷⁵ These programs have also been used specifically in TBI patients¹⁹; some studies have reported a reduction in the number of TBI patients with positive blood alcohol results and decreased alcohol consumption in TBI patients at 6 months and 2 years after implementation.^{176,177} A recent randomized controlled trial also found that an adapted SBI program was more effective than a screening and education with an attention control condition (which involves receiving social attention, rather than an intervention) at reducing the number of individuals who resumed drinking 12 months after discharge.¹⁷⁸ However, one study found that SBI did not affect alcohol misuse in TBI patients,¹⁷⁹ and few other studies have evaluated the efficacy of SBI in the TBI population. The limited number of studies in this area is concerning as cognitive deficits among individuals with TBI may interfere with the potential benefits of SBI.¹⁷⁵ Additionally, some studies suggest that individuals with more severe TBIs are less likely to be screened for alcohol misuse, which is likely due to the level of disability in these individuals and the prioritization of returning these individuals to a stable condition.^{175,180} Future health care utilization studies are needed to assess the benefits of SBI in individuals with TBI of different severities and determine whether accommodations should be provided to address the unique needs of TBI patients in these programs.

For individuals with a diagnosed AUD, the 2021 VA/DOD CPG for the Management of Substance Use Disorders weakly recommends various psychosocial treatments, such as cognitive behavioral therapy, 12-step facilitation (e.g., Alcoholics Anonymous [AA]), and motivational enhancement therapy (MET).¹⁶² AA is a particularly popular program that promotes active engagement in group meetings and activities (e.g., discussions about urges to drink, drinking behavior, and recovery-oriented activities) and homework assignments related to each

step.¹⁶² MET is less intensive than AA and involves motivational interviewing to improve selfefficacy for reducing drinking, strengthen coping skills, and promote commitment to change.¹⁶²

Studies suggest these treatments may modestly improve some aspects of alcohol consumption in individuals with AUD, but they are not superior to pharmacotherapies.¹⁸¹⁻¹⁸³ Other treatments that have been explored for reducing alcohol misuse include exercise therapy, with promising findings from randomized controlled trials and meta-analyses.¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁷ Novel treatments, such as virtual reality (VR) cognitive training, also show promise for treating AUD.¹⁸⁸⁻¹⁹⁰ However, very few studies have directly investigated these interventions for alcohol misuse in TBI patients. A recent study investigated the effect of both exercise and VR executive function training (EFT) on cognition in 30 veterans with TBI seeking treatment for AUD.¹⁹¹ Both exercise and VR-EFT improved cognitive outcomes, but only exercise significantly reduced drinking habits.¹⁹¹ While these results are encouraging, there is a need to determine whether these and other nonpharmaceutical approaches can be effectively utilized in the TBI population.

Pharmaceutical Management of Alcohol Misuse or AUD after TBI

Pharmacotherapies for managing alcohol misuse are most appropriate for those with diagnosed AUD, and the 2021 VA/DOD CPG for the Management of Substance Use Disorders strongly recommends the use of naltrexone or topiramate for those with moderate to severe AUD.¹⁶² Of note, naltrexone has been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of AUD, while topiramate has been FDA approved for other indications and is used as an off-label treatment for AUD.¹⁹² Naltrexone is an opioid receptor antagonist that can be orally administered once per day or via monthly intramuscular injection and has shown efficacy in reducing alcohol consumption.¹⁹³ Topiramate is an anticonvulsant with multiple mechanisms of action, including inhibition of voltage-gated sodium ion channels, blockade of glutamate neurotransmission, and enhancement of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-mediated inhibition through receptor positive allosteric modulation.¹⁹⁴ Though the pathways mediating its pharmacological efficacy in AUD are currently a subject of active research, topiramate is theorized to reduce dopamine surges associated with addiction.¹⁹⁴⁻¹⁹⁶ For the treatment of AUD, topiramate is orally administered once per day and promotes abstinence while reducing alcohol craving.^{194,195} Large meta-analyses of clinical trials conclude that these drugs can effectively reduce alcohol consumption,^{197,198} but they also should be used in conjunction with a psychosocial intervention.¹⁶² Other drugs that have been investigated include disulfiram and acamprosate, though findings on their effectiveness for treating AUD are limited.^{162,173} Alternative pharmacotherapeutic approaches, such as psychedelic-assisted therapies (PAT), were first investigated for the treatment of AUD in the late 1960s, and renewed interest in these therapies due to recent legislation has led to more studies in this area.¹⁹⁹⁻²⁰¹ Collectively, PAT studies demonstrate the efficacy of psilocybin- and lysergic acid diethylamide-assisted therapies for reducing alcohol consumption and promoting remission, as well as good tolerance of these treatments. 199-201

While these findings are promising, very few studies have examined the use of pharmacotherapies for treating alcohol misuse in the TBI population. One small study of veterans with AUD who were treated with naltrexone or valproate found that those with a history of moderate to severe TBI were more likely to relapse than those without TBI history.²⁰² No studies have investigated the use of PAT for treating AUD in TBI patients. However, since

Section 723 of the 2024 National Defense Authorization Act supports DOD funding for studies on the use of PAT in service members with TBI, it is possible that future studies may be conducted to address this gap.²⁰³ To date, evidence suggests that pharmacotherapies may be most beneficial for treating more severe AUD in the TBI population, but additional research is needed to confirm the safety and efficacy of these strategies in individuals with TBI.

CONCLUSION

Substantial clinical research has revealed the complex relationship between alcohol misuse and TBI, demonstrating that alcohol misuse increases the risk of TBI, while TBI may lead to alcohol misuse. The harmful effects of heavy drinking after TBI are multifaceted and may be intensified in certain vulnerable populations, including those with a preinjury history of alcohol misuse and those with other comorbid mental health disorders. However, alcohol misuse is a modifiable behavior that can be improved with evidence-based interventions tailored to meet the needs of the patient. While many treatment options exist for preventing and treating alcohol misuse and AUD, future studies should aim to evaluate their efficacy specifically in TBI survivors. Future studies should also determine whether specific accommodations are needed to increase the benefit of treatment in the TBI population as a whole, as well as in those with common TBI sequelae. In the military, these efforts will support the prevention of TBI-induced pathologies and promote force readiness.

KEY POINTS

- Evidence suggests heavy alcohol consumption increases TBI risk and that TBI increases the incidence of alcohol misuse and AUD; however, a causal relationship between TBI and alcohol misuse is difficult to confirm.
- The risk of developing alcohol misuse after TBI is highest among those with a preinjury history of alcohol misuse, milder TBIs (as opposed to moderate or severe TBIs), and comorbid mental health disorders.
- Due to the bidirectional relationship between TBI and alcohol misuse, screening for deployment-related and lifetime TBI may help prevent alcohol misuse in the military population, and prioritizing treatment for alcohol misuse may help reduce TBI risk.
- Alcohol misuse after TBI is associated with cognitive impairment, including substantial effects on learning and memory, executive function, and processing speed, as well as vestibular dysfunction.
- Heavy alcohol misuse after TBI is linked to other adverse health effects, including poor recovery from TBI, posttraumatic seizures, difficulty returning to work and daily activity, and mental health concerns that are prevalent in the military population, such as PTSD and suicide.
- AUD involves the complex interplay of a variety of neurological and psychological processes that promote its characteristic behaviors, such as craving and tolerance.
- Alcohol misuse and AUD are evaluated using various questionnaires, and treatments are recommended based on the severity of symptoms.
- Both psychosocial interventions (e.g., cognitive behavioral therapy, Alcoholics Anonymous) and pharmacotherapies have been recommended for the treatment of

alcohol misuse and AUD, but additional studies are needed to assess how cognitive impairment following TBI affects their efficacy and to identify potential accommodations for increasing the benefit of these strategies.

Prepared by: Clinical Translation Office Traumatic Brain Injury Center of Excellence dha.ncr.TBICoEResearch@health.mil

Disclaimer

The views expressed in this manuscript are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official policy or position of the Defense Health Agency, Department of Defense, or any other U.S. government agency. This work was prepared under Contract HT0014-22-C-0016 with DHA Contracting Office (NM-CD) HT0014 and, therefore, is defined as U.S. Government work under Title 17 U.S.C.§101. Per Title 17 U.S.C.§105, copyright protection is not available for any work of the U.S. Government. For more information, please contact dha.TBICOEinfo@health.mil.

APPENDIX A

Table 1: Criteria for AUD^{9,10}

	CRITERIA			
1.	Alcohol is often taken in larger amounts or over a longer period than was intended.			
2.	There is a persistent desire or unsuccessful efforts to cut down or control alcohol use.			
	A great deal of time is spent in activities necessary to obtain alcohol, use alcohol, or			
	recover from its effects.			
4.	Craving, or a strong desire or urge to use alcohol.			
5.	Recurrent alcohol use resulting in a failure to fulfill major role obligations at work,			
	school, or home.			
	Continued alcohol use despite having persistent or recurrent social or interpersonal			
	problems caused or exacerbated by the effects of alcohol.			
	Important social, occupational, or recreational activities are given up or reduced			
	because of alcohol use.			
-	Recurrent alcohol use in situations in which it is physically hazardous.			
	Alcohol use continues despite knowledge of having a persistent or recurrent physical or			
	psychological problem that is likely to have been caused or exacerbated by alcohol.			
	Tolerance, as defined by either of the following:			
	a. A need for markedly increased amounts of alcohol to achieve intoxication or			
	desired effect.			
	b. A markedly diminished effect with continued use of the same amount of alcohol.			
	Withdrawal, as manifested by either of the following:			
	a. The characteristic withdrawal syndrome for alcohol.			
	b. Consuming alcohol (or a closely related substance, such as a benzodiazepine) to			
	relieve or avoid withdrawal symptoms.			

Table 2: Patterns of Alcohol Use

CONDITION	DEFINITION		
Low-Risk Drinking ¹²	• The NIAAA defines low-risk drinking, also referred to as drinking in moderation, as consuming no more than 1 drink per day for women and 2 drinks per day for men.		
Binge Drinking ¹²	• The NIAAA defines binge drinking as a pattern of drinking alcohol resulting in blood alcohol concentrations of 0.08 percent, or 0.08 grams of alcohol per deciliter, or higher. For a typical adult, this pattern corresponds to consuming 5 or more drinks (men) or 4 or more drinks (women), in about 2 hours.		
Heavy Alcohol Use ¹²	• The NIAAA defines heavy drinking as consuming 5 or more drinks on any day or 15 or more per week for men and 4 or more drinks on any day or 8 or more drinks per week for women.		
Alcohol Misuse ²⁰⁴	 Alcohol misuse describes alcohol consumption that increases the risk for adverse health and social consequences. The NIAAA defines alcohol misuse as excessive daily consumption (more than 4 drinks per day for men or more than 3 drinks per day for women), or excessive total consumption (more than 14 drinks per week for men or more than 7 drinks per week for women), or both. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention defines alcohol misuse as having more than 1 drink per day on average for women and having more than 2 drinks per day on average for men. 		
Alcohol use disorder (AUD) ^{9,10}	 The DSM-5 defines alcohol use disorder as a problematic pattern of alcohol use leading to clinically significant impairment or distress, as manifested by at least 2 of 11 criteria occurring within a 12-month period. AUD is classified as mild (2-3 symptoms), moderate (4-5 symptoms), or severe (6 or more symptoms). Symptoms include, but are not limited to, consumption of large quantities of alcohol or long durations of drinking, difficulty controlling or reducing alcohol use, excessive time spent in activities necessary to obtain alcohol or recover from its effects, craving, drinking that interferes with major obligations, reduced involvement in social, occupational or recreational activities because of alcohol use, alcohol use in hazardous situations, continued alcohol use despite physical or psychological problems that are likely to be caused or exacerbated by alcohol, continued use despite recurrent social or interpersonal problems caused or exacerbated by alcohol use, tolerance, and withdrawal. 		

TOOL	DESCRIPTION			
Alcohol Use	• The AUDIT contains 10 questions that assess alcohol intake, dependence,			
Disorders	and adverse consequences.			
Identification	• The score is calculated by summing the scores in these subdomains for a			
Test	total possible score of 40, and scores of 8 or higher indicate potential			
(AUDIT) ¹⁵²	alcohol misuse.			
*Alcohol Use	• The AUDIT-C has 3 questions that assess the frequency and amount of			
Disorders	drinking and the amount of drinking in one sitting.			
Identification	• Each question is scored on a scale from 0 to 4 such that the total score			
Test-	ranges from 0 to 12, with higher scores indicating greater severity.			
Consumption	• In the VA and DOD, scores of 5 or higher indicate unhealthy alcohol use.			
(AUDIT-C) ¹⁶²				
CAGE	• The CAGE questionnaire has 4 questions as follows:			
Questionnaire ¹⁵²	• C: Have you ever felt the need to cut down on your drinking?			
	• A: Have you ever felt annoyed by criticism of your drinking?			
	• G: Have you ever felt guilty about your drinking?			
	• E: Have you ever taken a drink first thing in the morning (eye- opener)?			
	• Scores range from 0 to 4, and scores of 2 or higher indicate possible			
	alcohol dependence.			
*Single Item	• Contains one screening item to evaluate whether an individual regularly			
Alcohol	drinks above the recommended guidelines for heavy use.			
Screening	• A positive screen is indicated by any report of drinking above these			
Questionnaire	guidelines on an occasion in the past year.			
$(SASQ)^{162}$	nnoires recommended for accessing clockel misuse in the 2021 VA/DOD			

Table 3: Questionnaires Used to Evaluate Alcohol Misuse and Drinking Patterns

* indicates questionnaires recommended for assessing alcohol misuse in the 2021 VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Managing Substance Use Disorders.

RESOURCE	DESCRIPTION	LINK
VA/DOD CPG for the Management and Rehabilitation of Post- Acute Mild Traumatic Brain Injury (2021)	 Provides an overview of evidence- based recommendations for the assessment and treatment of TBI patients. Recommends that individuals with mTBI limit alcohol consumption during recovery. Recommends that individuals with mTBI are screened for common comorbidities, including substance use disorders like AUD. 	https://www.healthqualit y.va.gov/guidelines/reha b/mtbi/
VA/DOD CPG for the Management of Substance Abuse Disorders (2021)	 Provides guidelines on screening individuals for unhealthy alcohol use and AUD. Provides evidence-based recommendations for pharmaceutical and psychosocial interventions for substance use disorders, including AUD. 	https://www.healthqualit y.va.gov/guidelines/MH /sud/VADODSUDCPG. pdf
TBICoE Clinical Recommendation: Cognitive Rehabilitation for Service Members and Veterans Following Mild to Moderate Traumatic Brain Injury	 Provides recommendations for initiating cognitive rehabilitation after TBI. Recommends that individuals receive treatment for active substance abuse disorder, including AUD, before initiating cognitive rehabilitation programs. 	health.mil/CogRehab- mTBI-CR-Full
PHCoE Evidence Briefs on Alcohol Use Disorder	 Expert-reviewed reports on existing and potential treatments for alcohol use disorder. Provide summaries of available scientific evidence and clinical guidance for providers, patients, and other individuals with questions about the effectiveness of these treatments. Topics include various pharmacotherapies and psychosocial interventions. 	https://health.mil/Militar y-Health- Topics/Centers-of- Excellence/Psychologic al-Health-Center-of- Excellence/PHCoE- Research-and- Analytics/Psych-Health- Evidence- Briefs/Alcohol-Use- Disorder

RESOURCE	DESCRIPTION	LINK
PHCoE Clinician Resources for Screening for Alcohol Misuse	• Describes screening tools used in the DOD to assess alcohol misuse and AUD.	https://health.mil/Militar y-Health- Topics/Centers-of- Excellence/Psychologic al-Health-Center-of- Excellence/PHCoE- Clinician- Resources/Alcohol- Misuse/Screening-for- Alcohol-Misuse
PHCoE Clinician Resources for Treating Alcohol Misuse	• Describes current and emerging treatments for alcohol misuse.	https://health.mil/Militar y-Health- Topics/Centers-of- Excellence/Psychologic al-Health-Center-of- Excellence/PHCoE- Clinician- Resources/Alcohol- Misuse/Treatment-for- Alcohol-Misuse
PHCoE Clinician Resources on DOD Policy Guidance on Substance Misuse	• Provides links to specific DOD policies on managing substance abuse and branch-specific treatment programs for alcohol and substance abuse.	https://www.health.mil/ Military-Health- Topics/Centers-of- Excellence/Psychologic al-Health-Center-of- Excellence/PHCoE- Clinician- Resources/Alcohol- Misuse/DOD-Policy- Guidance-on-Substance- Misuse
Alcoholics Anonymous (AA)	• A type of 12-step facilitation therapy aiming to promote active engagement in group meetings and activities (e.g., discussions about urges to use, drinking behavior, and recovery- oriented activities) and homework assignments related to each step.	https://www.aa.org/

REFERENCES

1. Lindberg MA, Moy Martin EM, Marion DW. Military traumatic brain injury: The history, impact, and future. *J Neurotrauma*. 2022;39(17-18):1133-1145.

2. Kong LZ, Zhang RL, Hu SH, Lai JB. Military traumatic brain injury: A challenge straddling neurology and psychiatry. *Mil Med Res*. 2022;9(1):2.

3. French LM. Military traumatic brain injury: An examination of important differences. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2010;1208:38-45.

4. Rosenfeld JV, McFarlane AC, Bragge P, Armonda RA, Grimes JB, Ling GS. Blast-related traumatic brain injury. *Lancet Neurol*. 2013;12(9):882-893.

5. Bryden DW, Tilghman JI, Hinds SR, 2nd. Blast-related traumatic brain injury: Current concepts and research considerations. *J Exp Neurosci*. 2019;13:1179069519872213.

6. Department of Veterans Affairs & Department of Defense. VA/DoD Clinical Practice

Guideline for Management and Rehabilitation of Post-Acute Mild Traumatic Brain Injury.

Updated 2021. Available from: https://www.healthquality.va.gov/guidelines/rehab/mtbi/

7. DoD Worldwide Numbers for TBI. 2023:Vol. 2020. Available from:

https://health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Centers-of-Excellence/Traumatic-Brain-Injury-Center-of-Excellence/DOD-TBI-Worldwide-Numbers

8. Polinder S, Cnossen MC, Real R, et al. A multidimensional approach to post-concussion symptoms in mild traumatic brain injury. *Front Neurol*. 2018;9:1113.

9. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5 (DSM-5) ed.)*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.

10. National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. Alcohol Use Disorder: A Comparison Between DSM–IV and DSM–5. Updated 2021. Available from:

https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/brochures-and-fact-sheets/alcohol-use-disorder-comparison-between-dsm

11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. What is Excessive Drinking? Updated 2024. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/drinklessbeyourbest/excessivedrinking.html

12. National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. Drinking Levels Defined. Updated 2023. Available from: https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/alcohol-health/overview-alcohol-consumption/moderate-binge-drinking

13. Adams RS, Corrigan JD, Larson MJ. Alcohol use after combat-acquired traumatic brain injury: What we know and don't know. *J Soc Work Pract Addict*. 2012;12(1):28-51.

14. Bray RM, Brown JM, Williams J. Trends in binge and heavy drinking, alcohol-related problems, and combat exposure in the U.S. military. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2013;48(10):799-810.

15. Fink DS, Keyes KM, Calabrese JR, et al. Deployment and alcohol use in a military cohort: Use of combined methods to account for exposure-related covariates and heterogeneous response to exposure. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2017;186(4):411-419.

16. Mattiko MJ, Olmsted KLR, Brown JM, Bray RM. Alcohol use and negative consequences among active duty military personnel. *Addict Behav.* 2011;36(6):608-614.

17. London AS, Wilmoth JM, Oliver WJ, Hausauer JA. The influence of military service experiences on current and daily drinking. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2020;55(8):1288-1299.

18. Steffen-Allen FT, Marton KM, Graves LV, et al. Longitudinal patterns of alcohol use following traumatic brain injury in an active duty and young veteran military sample: A VA TBI Model Systems Study. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2022;37(6):350-360.

June 2024

19. Grossbard J, Malte CA, Lapham G, et al. Prevalence of alcohol misuse and follow-up care in a national sample of OEF/OIF VA patients with and without TBI. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2017;68(1):48-55.

20. Hale AC, Bohnert KM, Grekin R, Sripada RK. Traumatic brain injury in the general population: Incidence, mental health comorbidity, and functional impact. *J Nerv Ment Dis*. 2019;207(1):38-42.

21. Bogner J, Corrigan JD, Yi H, et al. Lifetime history of traumatic brain injury and behavioral health problems in a population-based sample. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2020;35(1):E43-e50. 22. McHugo GJ, Krassenbaum S, Donley S, Corrigan JD, Bogner J, Drake RE. The prevalence of traumatic brain injury among people with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2017;32(3):E65-e74.

23. Ponsford J, Tweedly L, Taffe J. The relationship between alcohol and cognitive functioning following traumatic brain injury. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*. 2013;35(1):103-12.

24. Wang Z, Luo C, Zhou EW, et al. Molecular toxicology and pathophysiology of comorbid alcohol use disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder associated with traumatic brain injury. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2023;24(10).

25. Sabia S, Fayosse A, Dumurgier J, et al. Alcohol consumption and risk of dementia: 23 year follow-up of Whitehall II cohort study. *BMJ*. 2018;362:k2927.

26. Fama R, Le Berre AP, Sullivan EV. Alcohol's unique effects on cognition in women: A 2020 (re)view to envision future research and treatment. *Alcohol Res*. 2020;40(2):03.

27. Parmontree P, Tunthanathip T, Doungngern T, Rojpitbulstit M, Kulviwat W, Ratanalert S. Predictive risk factors for early seizures in traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosci Rural Pract*. 2019;10(4):582-587.

28. Winqvist S, Luukinen H, Jokelainen J, Lehtilahti M, Näyhä S, Hillbom M. Recurrent traumatic brain injury is predicted by the index injury occurring under the influence of alcohol. *Brain Inj.* 2008;22(10):780-5.

29. Bannon SM, Kumar RG, Bogner J, et al. Reinjury after moderate to severe TBI: Rates and risk factors in the NIDILRR Traumatic Brain Injury Model Systems. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2021;36(1):E50-e60.

30. Sødal HF, Storvig G, Tverdal C, Robinson HS, Helseth E, Taubøll E. Early post-traumatic seizures in hospitalized patients with traumatic brain injury. *Acta Neurol Scand*. 2022;146(5):485-491.

31. Xu T, Yu X, Ou S, et al. Risk factors for posttraumatic epilepsy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2017;67:1-6.

32. Singh R, Dawson J, Basu S, Humphries TJ, Mason S, Lecky F. Vocational outcomes after traumatic brain injury; prevalence and risk factors after 1 year in a multivariable model. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2022;37(2):104-113.

33. Weil ZM, Corrigan JD, Karelina K. Alcohol use disorder and traumatic brain injury. *Alcohol Res.* 2018;39(2):171-180.

34. Mathias JL, Osborn AJ. Impact of day-of-injury alcohol consumption on outcomes after traumatic brain injury: A meta-analysis. *Neuropsychol Rehabil*. 2018;28(6):997-1018.

35. Chen CM, Yi HY, Yoon YH, Dong C. Alcohol use at time of injury and survival following traumatic brain injury: Results from the National Trauma Data Bank. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*. 2012;73(4):531-41.

36. Bjarkø VV, Skandsen T, Moen KG, et al. Time of injury and relation to alcohol intoxication in moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury: A decade-long prospective study. *World Neurosurg*. 2019;122:e684-e689.

37. Pagulayan KF, Temkin NR, Machamer JE, Dikmen SS. Patterns of alcohol use after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 2016;33(14):1390-6.

38. Parry-Jones BL, Vaughan FL, Miles Cox W. Traumatic brain injury and substance misuse: A systematic review of prevalence and outcomes research (1994-2004). *Neuropsychol Rehabil*. 2006;16(5):537-60.

39. Corrigan JD. Substance abuse as a mediating factor in outcome from traumatic brain injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 1995;76(4):302-9.

40. Tagliaferri F, Compagnone C, Korsic M, Servadei F, Kraus J. A systematic review of brain injury epidemiology in Europe. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 2006;148(3):255-68; discussion 268. 41. Rogan A, Patel V, Birdling J, et al. Alcohol and acute traumatic brain injury in the emergency department. *Emerg Med Australas*. 2021;33(4):718-727.

42. DiGiorgio AM, Wittenberg BA, Crutcher CL, 2nd, et al. The impact of drug and alcohol intoxication on glasgow coma scale assessment in patients with traumatic brain injury. *World Neurosurg*. 2020;135:e664-e670.

43. Leijdesdorff HA, Legué J, Krijnen P, Rhemrev S, Kleinveld S, Schipper IB. Traumatic brain injury and alcohol intoxication: Effects on injury patterns and short-term outcome. *Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg*. 2021;47(6):2065-2072.

44. Suominen EN, Sajanti AJ, Silver EA, et al. Alcohol intoxication and lack of helmet use are common in electric scooter-related traumatic brain injuries: A consecutive patient series from a tertiary university hospital. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 2022;164(3):643-653.

45. El-Menyar A, Consunji R, Asim M, et al. Traumatic brain injury in patients screened for blood alcohol concentration based on the mechanism of injury. *Brain Inj.* 2019;33(4):419-426. 46. Taylor LA, Kreutzer JS, Demm SR, Meade MA. Traumatic brain injury and substance abuse: A review and analysis of the literature. *Neuropsychol Rehabil.* 2003;13(1-2):165-88.

47. Beaulieu-Bonneau S, St-Onge F, Blackburn MC, Banville A, Paradis-Giroux AA, Ouellet MC. Alcohol and drug use before and during the first year after traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* 2018;33(3):E51-e60.

48. Ropacki S, Nakase-Richardson R, Farrell-Carnahan L, Lamberty GJ, Tang X. Descriptive findings of the VA polytrauma rehabilitation centers TBI Model Systems national database. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2018;99(5):952-959.

49. Hammig B, Haldeman S. Stair-related falls in the USA: Traumatic brain injury and the role of alcohol intoxication. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2022; jech-2022-219396.

50. Orsi C, Ferraro OE, Montomoli C, Otte D, Morandi A. Alcohol consumption, helmet use and head trauma in cycling collisions in Germany. *Accid Anal Prev.* 2014;65:97-104.

51. Yuan K, Haddad Y, Law R, et al. Emergency department visits for alcohol-associated falls among older adults in the United States, 2011 to 2020. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2023;82(6):666-677.

52. Eskander N, Prabhudesai S, Imran H, Ceren Amuk O, Patel RS. Alcohol use disorder increases risk of traumatic brain injury-related hospitalization: Insights from 3.8 million children and adolescent inpatients. *Cureus*. 2020;12(6):e8740.

53. Belding JN, Englert R, Bonkowski J, Thomsen CJ. Occupational risk of low-level blast exposure and TBI-related medical diagnoses: A population-based epidemiological investigation (2005-2015). *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(24).

54. Nikoo M, Gadermann A, To MJ, Krausz M, Hwang SW, Palepu A. Incidence and associated risk factors of traumatic brain injury in a cohort of homeless and vulnerably housed adults in 3 Canadian cities. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2017;32(4):E19-e26.

55. Vaughn MG, Salas-Wright CP, John R, Holzer KJ, Qian Z, Veeh C. Traumatic brain injury and psychiatric co-morbidity in the United States. *Psychiatr Q*. 2019;90(1):151-158.

56. Albrecht JS, Abariga SA, Rao V, Wickwire EM. Incidence of new neuropsychiatric disorder diagnoses following traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2020;35(4):E352-e360.

57. Ponsford J, Whelan-Goodinson R, Bahar-Fuchs A. Alcohol and drug use following traumatic brain injury: A prospective study. *Brain Inj*. 2007;21(13-14):1385-92.

58. Adams RS, Ketchum JM, Nakase-Richardson R, Katz DI, Corrigan JD. Prevalence of drinking within low-risk guidelines during the first 2 years after inpatient rehabilitation for moderate or severe traumatic brain injury. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil*. 2021;100(8):815-819.

59. Olsen CM, Corrigan JD. Does traumatic brain injury cause risky substance use or substance use disorder? *Biol Psychiatry*. 2022;91(5):421-437.

60. Awan N, DiSanto D, Juengst SB, et al. Interrelationships between post-TBI employment and substance abuse: A cross-lagged structural equation modeling analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2020;101(5):797-806.

61. Alcock B, Gallant C, Good D. The relationship between concussion and alcohol consumption among university athletes. *Addict Behav Rep.* 2018;7:58-64.

62. Corrigan JD, Bogner J, Mellick D, et al. Prior history of traumatic brain injury among persons in the Traumatic Brain Injury Model Systems National Database. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2013;94(10):1940-50.

63. Dams-O'Connor K, Spielman L, Singh A, et al. The impact of previous traumatic brain injury on health and functioning: A TRACK-TBI study. *J Neurotrauma*. 2013;30(24):2014-20.

64. Cannella LA, McGary H, Ramirez SH. Brain interrupted: Early life traumatic brain injury and addiction vulnerability. *Exp Neurol*. 2019;317:191-201.

65. Adams RS, Campbell-Sills L, Stein MB, et al. The association of lifetime and deploymentacquired traumatic brain injury with postdeployment binge and heavy drinking. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2020;35(1):27-36.

66. Corrigan JD, Hagemeyer AN, Weil ZM, et al. Is pediatric traumatic brain injury associated with adult alcohol misuse? *J Neurotrauma*. 2020;37(14):1637-1644.

67. McKinlay A, Grace R, Horwood J, Fergusson D, MacFarlane M. Adolescent psychiatric symptoms following preschool childhood mild traumatic brain injury: Evidence from a birth cohort. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2009;24(3):221-7.

68. Kennedy E, Heron J, Munafò M. Substance use, criminal behaviour and psychiatric symptoms following childhood traumatic brain injury: Findings from the ALSPAC cohort. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2017;26(10):1197-1206.

69. Timonen M, Miettunen J, Hakko H, et al. The association of preceding traumatic brain injury with mental disorders, alcoholism and criminality: The Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort Study. *Psychiatry Res*. 2002;113(3):217-26.

70. Rona RJ, Jones M, Fear NT, et al. Mild traumatic brain injury in UK military personnel returning from Afghanistan and Iraq: Cohort and cross-sectional analyses. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2012;27(1):33-44.

71. Adams RS, Larson MJ, Corrigan JD, Horgan CM, Williams TV. Frequent binge drinking after combat-acquired traumatic brain injury among active duty military personnel with a past year combat deployment. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2012;27(5):349-60.

72. Sayko Adams R, Corrigan JD, Mohr BA, Williams TV, Larson MJ. Traumatic brain injury and post-deployment binge drinking among male and female army active duty service members returning from Operation Enduring Freedom/Operation Iraqi Freedom. *J Neurotrauma*. 2017;34(7):1457-1465.

73. Schindler AG, Baskin B, Juarez B, et al. Repetitive blast mild traumatic brain injury increases ethanol sensitivity in male mice and risky drinking behavior in male combat veterans. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2021;45(5):1051-1064.

74. Carlson KF, Nelson D, Orazem RJ, Nugent S, Cifu DX, Sayer NA. Psychiatric diagnoses among Iraq and Afghanistan war veterans screened for deployment-related traumatic brain injury. *J Trauma Stress*. 2010;23(1):17-24.

75. Miller SC, Baktash SH, Webb TS, et al. Risk for addiction-related disorders following mild traumatic brain injury in a large cohort of active-duty U.S. airmen. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2013;170(4):383-90.

76. Pogoda TK, Adams RS, Carlson KF, Dismuke-Greer CE, Amuan M, Pugh MJ. Risk of adverse outcomes among veterans who screen positive for traumatic brain injury in the veterans health administration but do not complete a comprehensive evaluation: A LIMBIC-CENC study. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2024;39(3):171-182.

77. Brenner LA, Forster JE, Gradus JL, et al. Associations of military-related traumatic brain injury with new-onset mental health conditions and suicide risk. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2023;6(7):e2326296.

78. Bjork JM, Grant SJ. Does traumatic brain injury increase risk for substance abuse? J Neurotrauma. 2009;26(7):1077-82.

79. Booker J, Sinha S, Choudhari K, Dawson J, Singh R. Description of the predictors of persistent post-concussion symptoms and disability after mild traumatic brain injury: The SHEFBIT cohort. *Br J Neurosurg*. 2019;33(4):367-375.

80. Malec JF, Ketchum JM, Hammond FM, et al. Longitudinal effects of medical comorbidities on functional outcome and life satisfaction after traumatic brain injury: An individual growth curve analysis of NIDILRR Traumatic Brain Injury Model System Data. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* 2019;34(5):E24-e35.

81. Roy SJ, Livernoche Leduc C, Paradis V, Cataford G, Potvin MJ. The negative influence of chronic alcohol abuse on acute cognitive recovery after a traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* 2022;36(12-14):1340-1348.

82. Svedung Wettervik T, Enblad P, Lewén A. Pre-injury chronic alcohol abuse predicts intracranial hemorrhagic progression, unfavorable clinical outcome, and mortality in severe traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* 2021;35(12-13):1569-1576.

83. Zou LF, Pierce B, Nielson JL. A multi-modal assessment of clinical predictors for traumatic brain injury end-points. *J Neurotrauma*. 2021;38(2):261-271.

84. Yue JK, Ngwenya LB, Upadhyayula PS, et al. Emergency department blood alcohol level associates with injury factors and six-month outcome after uncomplicated mild traumatic brain injury. *J Clin Neurosci*. 2017;45:293-298.

85. LoBue C, Schaffert J, Dams-O'Connor K, et al. Identification of factors in moderate-severe TBI related to a functional decline in cognition decades after injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2023;104(11):1865-1871.

86. Jurick SM, McCabe CT, Watrous JR, et al. Associations between health-related behaviors and self-reported cognitive symptoms in U.S. military personnel injured on deployment. *J Psychiatr Res.* 2023;165:48-55.

87. Harrison EM, Chung SY, Englert RM, Belding JN. The effect of concussion mechanism of injury on sleep problems in active duty service members following deployment. *Mil Med.* 2023.

88. Lu YC, Wu MK, Zhang L, Zhang CL, Lu YY, Wu CH. Association between suicide risk and traumatic brain injury in adults: A population based cohort study. *Postgrad Med J*. 2020;96(1142):747-752.

89. Blakey SM, Wagner HR, Naylor J, et al. Chronic pain, TBI, and PTSD in military veterans: A link to suicidal ideation and violent impulses? *J Pain*. 2018;19(7):797-806.

90. Fortier CB, Whitworth JW, Fonda JR, et al. Early adolescent binge drinking increases risk of psychopathology in post-9/11 veterans and mild traumatic brain injury exacerbates symptom severity. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 2021;56(1):116-124.

91. Smith NIJ, Gilmour S, Prescott-Mayling L, Hogarth L, Corrigan JD, Williams WH. A pilot study of brain injury in police officers: A source of mental health problems? *J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs*. 2021;28(1):43-55.

92. Osborn AJ, Mathias JL, Fairweather-Schmidt AK, Anstey KJ. Anxiety and comorbid depression following traumatic brain injury in a community-based sample of young, middle-aged and older adults. *J Affect Disord*. 2017;213:214-221.

93. Ilie G, Wickens CM, Ialomiteanu A, et al. Traumatic brain injury and hazardous/harmful drinking: Concurrent and single associations with poor mental health and roadway aggression. *Psychiatry Res.* 2019;272:458-466.

94. Miles SR, Silva MA, Neumann D, et al. Demographic and mental health predictors of arrests up to 10 years post-traumatic brain injury: A Veterans Affairs TBI Model Systems Study. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2021;36(4):E240-e248.

95. Tsitsopoulos PP, Marklund N, Rostami E, Enblad P, Hillered L. Association of the bleeding time test with aspects of traumatic brain injury in patients with alcohol use disorder. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 2020;162(7):1597-1606.

96. Mukamal KJ, Kuller LH, Fitzpatrick AL, Longstreth WT, Jr., Mittleman MA, Siscovick DS. Prospective study of alcohol consumption and risk of dementia in older adults. *JAMA*. 2003;289(11):1405-13.

97. Koch M, Fitzpatrick AL, Rapp SR, et al. Alcohol consumption and risk of dementia and cognitive decline among older adults with or without mild cognitive impairment. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2019;2(9):e1910319.

98. Zhang R, Shen L, Miles T, et al. Association of low to moderate alcohol drinking with cognitive functions from middle to older age among US adults. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2020;3(6):e207922.

99. Raj R, Kaprio J, Jousilahti P, Korja M, Siironen J. Risk of dementia after hospitalization due to traumatic brain injury: A longitudinal population-based study. *Neurology*. 2022;98(23):e2377-e2386.

100. Stockwell T, Zhao J, Panwar S, Roemer A, Naimi T, Chikritzhs T. Do "moderate" drinkers have reduced mortality risk? A systematic review and meta-analysis of alcohol consumption and all-cause mortality. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*. 2016;77(2):185-98.

101. Dennis EL, Taylor BA, Newsome MR, et al. Advanced brain age in deployment-related traumatic brain injury: A LIMBIC-CENC neuroimaging study. *Brain Inj.* 2022;36(5):662-672. 102. Guggenmos M, Schmack K, Sekutowicz M, et al. Quantitative neurobiological evidence for accelerated brain aging in alcohol dependence. *Transl Psychiatry.* 2017;7(12):1279.

103. Ning K, Zhao L, Matloff W, Sun F, Toga AW. Association of relative brain age with tobacco smoking, alcohol consumption, and genetic variants. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):10. 104. Bøstrand SMK, Vaher K, de Nooij L, et al. Associations between alcohol use and accelerated biological ageing. *Addict Biol.* 2022;27(1):e13100.

105. Arango-Lasprilla JC, Watson JD, Rodríguez MJ, Ramos-Usuga D, Perrin PB. Patterns of alcohol use in hispanic individuals with the over the ten years post-injury: A Model Systems Study. *J Pers Med.* 2024;14(1).

106. Gallant C, Good D. Alcohol misuse and traumatic brain injury: A review of the potential roles of dopaminergic dysfunction and physiological underarousal post-injury. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult*. 2021;28(5):501-511.

107. Chandi S, Dekeseredy P, Brandmeir NJ, Fang W, Sedney CL. Traumatic brain injury in college students and the influence of alcohol consumption: A retrospective review from a rural state. *J Neurosci Rural Pract.* 2023;14(2):298-301.

108. Cuthbert JP, Harrison-Felix C, Corrigan JD, et al. Epidemiology of adults receiving acute inpatient rehabilitation for a primary diagnosis of traumatic brain injury in the United States. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2015;30(2):122-35.

109. Epstein EL, Martindale SL, Va Mid-Atlantic Mirecc W, Miskey HM. Posttraumatic stress disorder and traumatic brain injury: Sex differences in veterans. *Psychiatry Res*. 2019;274:105-111.

110. Kumar RG, Esterov D, Adams RS, et al. Changes in alcohol use and mood during the COVID-19 pandemic among individuals with traumatic brain injury: A difference-in-difference study. *PLoS One*. 2022;17(4):e0266422.

111. Bogner J, French LM, Lange RT, Corrigan JD. Pilot study of traumatic brain injury and alcohol misuse among service members. *Brain Inj*. 2015;29(7-8):905-14.

112. Theadom A, Jones K, Starkey N, et al. Symptoms and engagement in anti-social behavior 10 years after mild traumatic brain injury within a community civilian sample: A prospective cohort study with age-sex matched control group. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2024;105(2):295-302. 113. Gray M, Adamson MM, Thompson RC, et al. Sex differences in symptom presentation and functional outcomes: A pilot study in a matched sample of veterans with mild TBI. *Brain Inj*. 2020;34(4):535-547.

114. van der Naalt J, Timmerman ME, de Koning ME, et al. Early predictors of outcome after mild traumatic brain injury (UPFRONT): An observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol*. 2017;16(7):532-540.

115. Cusimano MD, Zhang S, Huang G, Wolfe D, Carpino M. Associations between traumatic brain injury, drug abuse, alcohol use, adverse childhood events, and aggression levels in individuals with foster care history. *Neurotrauma Rep.* 2020;1(1):241-252.

116. Veeh CA, Vaughn MG, Renn T. Coping strategies and traumatic brain injury in incarcerated youth: A mediation analysis. *Brain Inj.* 2018;32(13-14):1795-1802.

117. Schneider BS, Arciniegas DB, Harenski C, Clarke GJB, Kiehl KA, Koenigs M. The prevalence, characteristics, and psychiatric correlates of traumatic brain injury in incarcerated individuals: An examination in two independent samples. *Brain Inj.* 2021;35(14):1690-1701.

118. Daugherty J, Treves-Kagan S, Gottfredson NC, Miedema S, Haarbauer-Krupa J. Does binge drinking mediate the relationship between four adverse childhood experiences and adult traumatic brain injury? Results from the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 Cohort. *Inj Prev.* 2023;29(2):111-115.

119. Garcia A, Miles SR, Reljic T, et al. Neurobehavioral symptoms in U.S. Special Operations Forces in rehabilitation after traumatic brain injury: A TBI Model Systems Study. *Mil Med*. 2022;187(11-12):1412-1421.

120. Otto JL, Smolenski DJ, Stewart L, et al. Explosive Ordnance Disposal personnel in the U.S. military have higher risk of insomnia and post-traumatic stress disorder: A large retrospective cohort study. *Ann Epidemiol.* 2021;57:40-45.

121. Skipper LD, Forsten RD, Kim EH, Wilk JD, Hoge CW. Relationship of combat experiences and alcohol misuse among U.S. Special Operations Soldiers. *Mil Med.* 2014;179(3):301-8. 122. Greer N, Sayer N, Koeller E, Velasquez T, Wilt TJ. Outcomes associated with blast versus nonblast-related traumatic brain injury in US military service members and veterans: A systematic review. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* 2018;33(2):E16-e29.

123. Bertisch H, Krellman JW, Bergquist TF, Dreer LE, Ellois V, Bushnik T. Characteristics of firearm brain injury survivors in the Traumatic Brain Injury Model Systems (TBIMS) National Database: A comparison of assault and self-inflicted injury survivors. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2017;98(11):2288-2294.

124. Martindale SL, Epstein EL, Taber KH, Rowland JA. Behavioral and health outcomes associated with deployment and nondeployment acquisition of traumatic brain injury in Iraq and Afghanistan veterans. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2018;99(12):2485-2495.

125. Goudriaan AE, Grekin ER, Sher KJ. Decision making and response inhibition as predictors of heavy alcohol use: A prospective study. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2011;35(6):1050-7.

126. Squeglia LM, Tapert SF, Sullivan EV, et al. Brain development in heavy-drinking adolescents. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2015;172(6):531-42.

127. De Falco E, White SM, Morningstar MD, et al. Impaired cognitive flexibility and heightened urgency are associated with increased alcohol consumption in rodent models of excessive drinking. *Addict Biol.* 2021;26(5):e13004.

128. Gautier M, Pabst A, Maurage P. Social decision making in severe alcohol use disorder: Scoping review and experimental perspectives. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2021;45(8):1548-1559.

129. Barker JM, Taylor JR. Habitual alcohol seeking: Modeling the transition from casual drinking to addiction. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2014;47:281-94.

130. Shnitko TA, Gonzales SW, Grant KA. Low cognitive flexibility as a risk for heavy alcohol drinking in non-human primates. *Alcohol.* 2019;74:95-104.

131. Trick L, Kempton MJ, Williams SC, Duka T. Impaired fear recognition and attentional setshifting is associated with brain structural changes in alcoholic patients. *Addict Biol.* 2014;19(6):1041-54.

132. Trantham-Davidson H, Chandler LJ. Alcohol-induced alterations in dopamine modulation of prefrontal activity. *Alcohol*. 2015;49(8):773-9.

133. Knoff AA, Knight AR, Salat DH, et al. Early onset adolescent binge drinking is associated with reduced white matter integrity in post-9/11 adult veterans. *Alcohol Alcohol*. 2023;58(6):662-671.

134. Sullivan EV, Pfefferbaum A. Neurocircuitry in alcoholism: A substrate of disruption and repair. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2005;180(4):583-94.

135. Wilson S, Bair JL, Thomas KM, Iacono WG. Problematic alcohol use and reduced hippocampal volume: A meta-analytic review. *Psychol Med.* 2017;47(13):2288-2301.

136. Guerin SP, Melbourne JK, Dang HQ, Shaji CA, Nixon K. Astrocyte reactivity and neurodegeneration in the female rat brain following alcohol dependence. *Neuroscience*. 2023;529:183-199.

137. Nixon K, Crews FT. Binge ethanol exposure decreases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. *J Neurochem*. 2002;83(5):1087-93.

138. Crews FT, Nixon K. Mechanisms of neurodegeneration and regeneration in alcoholism. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 2009;44(2):115-27.

139. Liu W, Crews FT. Persistent decreases in adult subventricular and hippocampal neurogenesis following adolescent intermittent ethanol exposure. *Front Behav Neurosci*. 2017;11:151.

140. Lan L, Wang H, Zhang X, et al. Chronic exposure of alcohol triggers microglia-mediated synaptic elimination inducing cognitive impairment. *Exp Neurol*. 2022;353:114061.

141. Socodato R, Henriques JF, Portugal CC, et al. Daily alcohol intake triggers aberrant synaptic pruning leading to synapse loss and anxiety-like behavior. *Sci Signal*. 2020;13(650). 142. Murano T, Koshimizu H, Hagihara H, Miyakawa T. Transcriptomic immaturity of the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex in patients with alcoholism. *Sci Rep*. 2017;7:44531.

143. Silva-Gotay A, Davis J, Tavares ER, Richardson HN. Alcohol drinking during early adolescence activates microglial cells and increases frontolimbic Interleukin-1 beta and Toll-like receptor 4 gene expression, with heightened sensitivity in male rats compared to females. *Neuropharmacology*. 2021;197:108698.

144. Melbourne JK, Wooden JI, Carlson ER, Anasooya Shaji C, Nixon K. Neuroimmune activation and microglia reactivity in female rats following alcohol dependence. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2024;25(3).

145. Wolf EJ, Logue MW, Morrison FG, et al. Posttraumatic psychopathology and the pace of the epigenetic clock: A longitudinal investigation. *Psychol Med.* 2019;49(5):791-800.

146. Ramos A, Joshi RS, Szabo G. Innate immune activation: Parallels in alcohol use disorder and Alzheimer's disease. *Front Mol Neurosci*. 2022;15:910298.

147. Kavi T, Abdelhady A, DeChiara J, et al. Association of patterns of mild traumatic brain injury with neurologic deterioration: Experience at a Level I Trauma Center. *Cureus*. 2019;11(9):e5677.

148. Karelina K, Gaier KR, Prabhu M, Wenger V, Corrigan TED, Weil ZM. Binge ethanol in adulthood exacerbates negative outcomes following juvenile traumatic brain injury. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2017;60:304-311.

149. Hoffman J, Yu J, Kirstein C, Kindy MS. Combined effects of repetitive mild traumatic brain injury and alcohol drinking on the neuroinflammatory cytokine response and cognitive behavioral outcomes. *Brain Sci.* 2020;10(11).

150. Schwartzenburg JB, Cruise SC, Reed RE, et al. Neuropathological outcomes of traumatic brain injury and alcohol use in males and females: Studies using pre-clinical rodent and clinical human specimens. *J Neurotrauma*. 2023;40(21-22):2410-2426.

151. Mayer AR, Hanlon FM, Claus ED, et al. An examination of behavioral and neuronal effects of comorbid traumatic brain injury and alcohol use. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. 2018;3(3):294-302.

152. Mehta S, Janzen S, Cotoi A, Rice D, Owens K, Teasell R. Screening questionnaires for substance abuse post brain injury: A review. *Brain Inj.* 2019;33(5):551-558.

153. Ewing JA. Detecting alcoholism. The CAGE questionnaire. JAMA. 1984;252(14):1905-7.

154. Ashman TA, Schwartz ME, Cantor JB, Hibbard MR, Gordon WA. Screening for substance abuse in individuals with traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj*. 2004;18(2):191-202.

155. Dhalla S, Kopec JA. The CAGE questionnaire for alcohol misuse: A review of reliability and validity studies. *Clin Invest Med.* 2007;30(1):33-41.

156. Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, de la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption–II. *Addiction*. 1993;88(6):791-804. 157. Bryce S, Spitz G, Ponsford J. Screening for substance use disorders following traumatic brain injury: Examining the validity of the AUDIT and the DAST. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2015;30(5):E40-8.

158. Daeppen JB, Yersin B, Landry U, Pécoud A, Decrey H. Reliability and validity of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) imbedded within a general health risk screening questionnaire: Results of a survey in 332 primary care patients. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2000;24(5):659-65.

159. Bradley KA, Rubinsky AD, Lapham GT, et al. Predictive validity of clinical AUDIT-C alcohol screening scores and changes in scores for three objective alcohol-related outcomes in a Veterans Affairs population. *Addiction*. 2016;111(11):1975-1984.

160. Bradley KA, Bush KR, Epler AJ, et al. Two brief alcohol-screening tests from the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): Validation in a female Veterans Affairs patient population. *Arch Intern Med.* 2003;163(7):821-9.

161. Panaite V, Brown R, Henry M, et al. Post-deployment mental health screening: A systematic review of current evidence and future directions. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. 2018;45(6):850-875.

162. Department of Veteran Affairs DoD. VA/DoD Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Substance Use Disorders. Updated 2021. Available from:

https://www.healthquality.va.gov/guidelines/MH/sud/VADoDSUDCPG.pdf

163. Bradley KA, DeBenedetti AF, Volk RJ, Williams EC, Frank D, Kivlahan DR. AUDIT-C as a brief screen for alcohol misuse in primary care. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2007;31(7):1208-17. 164. Bradley KA, Kivlahan DR, Zhou XH, et al. Using alcohol screening results and treatment history to assess the severity of at-risk drinking in Veterans Affairs primary care patients. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2004;28(3):448-55.

165. Rubinsky AD, Dawson DA, Williams EC, Kivlahan DR, Bradley KA. AUDIT-C scores as a scaled marker of mean daily drinking, alcohol use disorder severity, and probability of alcohol dependence in a U.S. general population sample of drinkers. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*. 2013;37(8):1380-90.

166. Smith PC, Schmidt SM, Allensworth-Davies D, Saitz R. Primary care validation of a singlequestion alcohol screening test. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2009;24(7):783-8.

167. Post Deployment Health Assessment. Available from:

https://www.esd.whs.mil/Portals/54/Documents/DD/forms/dd/dd2796.pdf

168. Post Deployment Health Re-Assessment. Available from:

https://www.esd.whs.mil/Portals/54/Documents/DD/forms/dd/dd2900.pdf

169. Bogner JA, Whiteneck GG, MacDonald J, et al. Test-retest reliability of traumatic brain injury outcome measures: A Traumatic Brain Injury Model Systems Study. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2017;32(5):E1-e16.

170. Traumatic Brain Injury Center of Excellence. TBICoE Clinical Recommendation: Cognitive Rehabilitation for Service Members and Veterans Following Mild to Moderate Traumatic Brain Injury. Updated 2019. Available from: https://www.health.mil/Reference-

Center/Publications/2020/07/30/Cognitive-Rehabilitation-for-Following-Mild-to-Moderate-TBI-Clinical-Recommendation-Full

171. Psychological Health Center of Excellence. DOD Policy Guidance on Substance Misuse. Updated 2023. Available from: https://www.health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Centers-of-Excellence/Psychological-Health-Center-of-Excellence/PHCoE-Clinician-Resources/Alcohol-Misuse/DOD-Policy-Guidance-on-Substance-Misuse

172. Psychological Health Center of Excellence. Treatment for Alcohol Misuse. Updated 2023. Available from: https://health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Centers-of-Excellence/Psychological-Health-Center-of-Excellence/PHCoE-Clinician-Resources/Alcohol-Misuse/Treatment-for-Alcohol-Misuse

173. Psychological Health Center of Excellence. Alcohol Use Disorder: Evidence Briefs Updated 2024. Available from: https://health.mil/Military-Health-Topics/Centers-of-Excellence/Psychological-Health-Center-of-Excellence/PHCoE-Research-and-Analytics/Psych-Health-Evidence-Briefs/Alcohol-Use-Disorder

174. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT). Updated 2022. Available from: https://www.samhsa.gov/sbirt

175. Corrigan JD, Bogner J, Hungerford DW, Schomer K. Screening and brief intervention for

substance misuse among patients with traumatic brain injury. *J Trauma*. 2010;69(3):722-6. 176. Pavalur R, Nattala P, Kandasamy A, Shukla DP. A randomized controlled trial of nurse-led Brief Focused Intervention for patients with alcohol use-related mild traumatic brain injury in the emergency and casualty services of a tertiary hospital. *J Neurosci Rural Pract*. 2024;15(1):103-110.

177. Eyer MM, Renier CM, Woehrle TA, Vogel LE, Conway PG, McCarty CA. Alcohol use at the time of traumatic brain injury: Screening and brief intervention in a community hospital. *J Trauma Nurs*. 2017;24(2):116-124.

178. Bogner J, Corrigan JD, Peng J, Kane C, Coxe K. Comparative effectiveness of a brief intervention for alcohol misuse following traumatic brain injury: A randomized controlled trial. *Rehabil Psychol.* 2021;66(4):345-355.

179. Sander AM, Bogner J, Nick TG, Clark AN, Corrigan JD, Rozzell M. A randomized controlled trial of brief intervention for problem alcohol use in persons with traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2012;27(5):319-30.

180. Cheever CS, Barbosa-Leiker C. Impact of alcohol screening for traumatic brain injury patients being admitted to neurosurgical intensive care unit. *J Neurosci Nurs*. 2018;50(2):83-87. 181. Agosti V, Nunes EV, O'Shea D. Do manualized psychosocial interventions help reduce relapse among alcohol-dependent adults treated with naltrexone or placebo? A meta-analysis. *Am J Addict*. 2012;21(6):501-7.

182. Magill M, Kiluk BD, Ray LA. Efficacy of cognitive behavioral therapy for alcohol and other drug use disorders: Is a one-size-fits-all approach appropriate? *Subst Abuse Rehabil*. 2023;14:1-11.

183. van Amsterdam J, Blanken P, Spijkerman R, van den Brink W, Hendriks V. The added value of pharmacotherapy to cognitive behavior therapy and vice versa in the treatment of alcohol use disorders: A systematic review. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 2022;57(6):768-775.

184. Roessler KK, Bilberg R, Søgaard Nielsen A, Jensen K, Ekstrøm CT, Sari S. Exercise as adjunctive treatment for alcohol use disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(10):e0186076.

185. Gunillasdotter V, Andréasson S, Jirwe M, Ekblom Ö, Hallgren M. Effects of exercise in non-treatment seeking adults with alcohol use disorder: A three-armed randomized controlled trial (FitForChange). *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2022;232:109266.

186. Gür F, Can Gür G. Is exercise a useful intervention in the treatment of alcohol use disorder? Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Health Promot*. 2020;34(5):520-537.

187. Weinstock J, Petry NM, Pescatello LS, Henderson CE, Nelson CR. Randomized clinical trial of exercise for nontreatment seeking adults with alcohol use disorder. *Psychol Addict Behav*. 2020;34(1):65-75.

188. Thaysen-Petersen D, Hammerum SK, Vissing AC, et al. Virtual reality-assisted cognitive behavioral therapy for patients with alcohol use disorder: A randomized feasibility study. *Front Psychiatry*. 2024;15:1337898.

189. Lebiecka Z, Skoneczny T, Tyburski E, Samochowiec J, Kucharska-Mazur J. Is virtual reality cue exposure a promising adjunctive treatment for alcohol use disorder? *J Clin Med*. 2021;10(13).

190. Ghiță A, Gutiérrez-Maldonado J. Applications of virtual reality in individuals with alcohol misuse: A systematic review. *Addict Behav.* 2018;81:1-11.

191. Pennington DL, Reavis JV, Cano MT, Walker E, Batki SL. The Impact of exercise and virtual reality executive function training on cognition among heavy drinking veterans with traumatic brain injury: A pilot feasibility study. *Front Behav Neurosci.* 2022;16:802711. 192. Kranzler HR, Soyka M. Diagnosis and pharmacotherapy of alcohol use disorder: A review. *JAMA*. 2018;320(8):815-824. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.11406

193. Kedia SK, Ahuja N, Dillon PJ, Jones A, Kumar S, Satapathy S. Efficacy of extendedrelease injectable naltrexone on alcohol use disorder treatment: A systematic review. *J Psychoactive Drugs*. 2023;55(2):233-245.

194. Manhapra A, Chakraborty A, Arias AJ. Topiramate pharmacotherapy for alcohol use disorder and other addictions: A narrative review. *J Addict Med.* 2019;13(1):7-22.

195. Blodgett JC, Del Re AC, Maisel NC, Finney JW. A meta-analysis of topiramate's effects for individuals with alcohol use disorders. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2014;38(6):1481-8.

196. Wetherill RR, Spilka N, Jagannathan K, et al. Effects of topiramate on neural responses to alcohol cues in treatment-seeking individuals with alcohol use disorder: Preliminary findings from a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 2021;46(8):1414-1420. 197. Jonas DE, Amick HR, Feltner C, et al. Pharmacotherapy for adults with alcohol use disorders in outpatient settings: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*.

2014;311(18):1889-900.

198. McPheeters M, O'Connor EA, Riley S, et al. Pharmacotherapy for alcohol use disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2023;330(17):1653-1665.

199. Bogenschutz MP, Forcehimes AA, Pommy JA, Wilcox CE, Barbosa PC, Strassman RJ. Psilocybin-assisted treatment for alcohol dependence: A proof-of-concept study. *J Psychopharmacol*. 2015;29(3):289-99.

200. Bogenschutz MP, Ross S, Bhatt S, et al. Percentage of heavy drinking days following psilocybin-assisted psychotherapy vs placebo in the treatment of adult patients with alcohol use disorder: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2022;79(10):953-962.

201. Krebs TS, Johansen P. Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) for alcoholism: Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Psychopharmacol*. 2012;26(7):994-1002.

202. Jorge RE, Li R, Liu X, et al. Treating alcohol use disorder in U.S. veterans: The role of traumatic brain injury. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*. 2019;31(4):319-327.

203. Congressional Research Service. FY2024 NDAA: Military Mental Health Care and Research Provisions. Available from: https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IN/IN12242 204. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Alcohol & Substance Misuse | Workplace Health Strategies by Condition | Workplace Health Promotion | CDC. Updated 2018. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/workplacehealthpromotion/health-strategies/substance-misuse/